FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
9/1/2021 12:48 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/3/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 100171-1

NO. 80156-2-I

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

TIMOTHY BASS,

Petitioner.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WHATCOM COUNTY

The Honorable Raquel Montoya-Lewis & Robert Olson, Judges

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY T. SWIFT Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

###

### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a cold case involving the highly publicized death of 18-year-old Mandy Stavik in rural Whatcom County in 1989. Bass and Stavik grew up near each other on Strand Road off Highway 9, close to the Nooksack River. RP 1032-33, 1586-87. Bass was three years older than Stavik and both graduated Mount Baker High School in nearby Deming. RP 1584, 1037, 1071.



#### Ex. 8.

In November of 1989, Stavik came home from college with her roommate Yoko for the long Thanksgiving weekend. RP 1044-47. Stavik visited her old basketball team for an unspecified amount of time on Wednesday night. RP 1309-10. Her family remembered only that they celebrated Thanksgiving on Thursday. RP 1048, 1074. On Friday, Stavik lunched on leftovers and then went for a walk to the river with Yoko. RP 1076-77.

After the walk, Stavik went on a run, just her and the family dog. RP 1081, 1108-09. The evidence suggested Stavik did not cross Highway 9 or pass by the Bass house on her run. RP 1108-11. Regardless, Stavik was seen by her brother and another eyewitness close to home around 3:00 p.m. RP 1135, 1149, 1166. She was never seen again until her body was discovered three days later in the Nooksack River, several miles upstream from Strand Road. RP 1362. Trackers identified an area of disturbance on the road shoulder near where Stavik was

last seen running. RP 1199. Ultimately, however, no crime scene was ever located. RP 1226-27.

The medical examiner, Dr. Gary Goldfogel, certified Stavik's cause of death as drowning, but concluded her manner of death was undetermined. RP 1491, 1531. Stavik was found nude except for her running shoes. RP 1474. She had superficial scratches on her limbs, suggesting she ran through brush before her death. RP 1473-74, 1481-83. She had a bruise on her head, which could have occurred shortly before or after her death. RP 1486-90. Undigested food in her stomach indicated Stavik died within three to four hours after last eating. RP 1492-93. A male DNA profile was developed from semen found in Stavik's vagina. RP 1495-1500, 1634.

Law enforcement investigated several suspects, executing search warrants and collecting DNA, but ruled each out when their DNA did not match the recovered profile. RP 1412-19, 1796-1800, 2178-79. The case eventually went cold.

Meanwhile, Bass married, moved to nearby Everson, and started a family. RP 1740, 1840. Bass and his wife raised three children together. RP 1831. Bass never spent a day in jail. CP 283.

In 2013, law enforcement began asking residents who lived in the area in 1989 to voluntarily turn over their DNA. RP 8-9, 1735-36. Both Bass and his younger brother Tom refused warrantless collection of their DNA. RP 8-9, 24-25. Worried about the possible implications, Bass admitted to his brother that he and Stavik slept together a couple times before she left for college and once more while she was home for Thanksgiving break. RP 1602-03.

Lacking probable cause and unable to obtain Bass's DNA through lawful means, Detective Kevin Bowhay contacted Bass's coworker Kim Wagner. Pretrial Ex. 8. Bass worked for Franz Family Bakeries in Bellingham, delivering bread to local stores. RP 10, 78. Detective Bowhay asked Wagner if they could swab a delivery truck for DNA, without stating whose truck. RP 10-

11, 36-39. Wagner manages the retail outlet store and does not supervise the delivery drivers. RP 34. Wagner directed Detective Bowhay to the corporate office. RP 11, 37. Corporate refused. RP 11-12.

Temporarily thwarted, Detective Bowhay contacted Wagner again, this time specifically asking for Bass's delivery route, hoping to collect cast-off DNA. RP 12-16. Wagner guessed Detective Bowhay was investigating the Stavik case, which he confirmed. RP 15-16, 42. Wagner gave Detective Bowhay Bass's delivery route and schedule. RP 13, 44-45.

Detective Bowhay tailed Bass for a single night but could not collect any discarded items that might have Bass's DNA on them. RP 16-17. Again thwarted, Detective Bowhay followed up with Wagner, who wanted to know how the surveillance went. RP 17, 31. Detective Bowhay admitted, "we texted back and forth during this whole process." RP 18-19.

Detective Bowhay informed Wagner they failed to collect any DNA. RP 17. Wagner told Detective Bowhay she could get

Bass's DNA: "I'll get you a water bottle." RP 17-18, 61. Detective Bowhay responded, "like, that would be great or okay." RP 48. Detective Bowhay claimed he told Wagner, "I couldn't tell her what to do or what not to do," RP 28, but agreed he did not try to dissuade her, RP 18.

Wagner began to watch Bass at work. RP 49. At the Franz Bakery outlet, there is a small employee "checkout room," or shared office, not open to the general public. RP 48-50, 65. Not long after Wagner's conversation with Detective Bowhay, Bass drank from a plastic cup and discarded it in the checkout room trashcan. RP 49. Wagner retrieved Bass's cup from the garbage and hid it in her desk drawer. RP 49. Bass later drank from Coke can and threw it out in the same garbage. RP 51-52. Wagner again retrieved Bass's Coke can, hid it in her desk drawer with the cup, and immediately texted Detective Bowhay. RP 52, 56-58. Detective Bowhay met Wagner that same day and she turned over Bass's cup and can to him. RP 57.

Wagner later testified the reason she collected the cup and can was to assist Detective Bowhay; "I felt a basic human moral obligation to help." RP 47, 56. She explained, "by this time I felt like if Tim was involved it needed to be found out." RP 56.

Bass's DNA from the plastic cup matched the male DNA profile recovered from Stavik. RP 1684. Bass was arrested in December 2017 and charged with first degree felony murder, predicated on rape and kidnapping. CP 1-2, 5, 231-32.

Before trial, Bass moved to suppress the DNA results, arguing Wagner acted as a state agent when she collected his cup and can without a warrant. CP 52-60. Following a CrR 3.6 hearing, the trial court denied the motion to suppress, concluding "Wagner came up with the idea to search and Detective Bowhay did not direct, entice, or act as an instigator of Ms. Wagner's search." CP 115.

he trial court rejected the pr

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The trial court rejected the prosecution's argument that Bass did not have standing to challenge the search of his workplace garbage. CP 115, 327-29; RP 155-56. The prosecution raised

The parties introduced competing expert testimony at trial regarding the estimated time between intercourse and Stavik's death. Based on the number of sperm he observed on the vaginal swab slides, Dr. Goldfogel believed the semen was deposited close in time to Stavik's death, no more than 12 hours. RP 1509-11, 1532. There was, however, some dispute about whether Dr. Goldfogel viewed the slides under 100x or 400x magnification, the former of which is inadequate to identify sperm. RP 1548-51, 2111-13. The slides were preserved, so Forensic Biologist Dr. Elizabeth Johnson was able to independently analyze them. RP 1505, 1989. She concluded under proper 400x magnification, the relatively few sperm on the vaginal swab slides indicated it was more likely intercourse occurred 24 to 48 hours before Stavik went in the river. RP 2015-16, 2036. Dr. Johnson believed the sperm count on the slides was "not consistent with intercourse and then immediate death." RP 2036.

the standing issue again on appeal, but the court of appeals did not reach it. Br. of Resp't, 25-35.

The jury found Bass guilty, returning special verdict forms finding Bass committed first degree rape and attempted rape and first degree kidnapping and attempted kidnapping. CP 277-80. The court of appeals affirmed Bass's conviction.<sup>3</sup> Opinion, 43.

### D. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> <u>ACCEPTED</u>

1a. The published court of appeals decision in *Bass* creates a conflict in the case law as to whether a private actor becomes a state agent when the police know of and acquiesce in the illegal search and the private actor intended to assist law enforcement.

No warrant or warrant exception existed when Kim Wagner surreptitiously retrieved Bass's cup and soda can from the office garbage and turned them over to Detective Bowhay for DNA testing. The question is, then, whether Wagner was acting as a state agent when she did so. But this question is not so easy to answer, where this Court has not considered a criminal stage agency issue since 1988 in <u>State v. Smith</u>, 110 Wn.2d 658, 756

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Given the length of this petition, relevant portions of the court of appeals' decision will be summarized in greater detail in the corresponding argument sections below.

P.2d 722 (1988), and the court of appeals did not feel compelled to follow its own clear rule articulated in <u>State v. Swenson</u>, 104 Wn. App. 744, 9 P.3d 933 (2000).

In 1987, Division One of the court of appeals recognized, for a private party to be deemed an agent of the state, "the government must be involved directly as a participant in the search or indirectly as an 'encourager' or instigator of the private citizen's actions." State v. Clark, 48 Wn. App. 850, 856, 743 P.2d 822 (1987) (quoting <u>United States v.</u> Walther, 652 F.2d 788, 791 (9th Cir. 1981)). The Clark court emphasized "[c]ritical factors" in making this determination are (1) "whether the government knew of and acquiesced in the intrusive conduct" and (2) "whether the party performing the search intended to assist law enforcement efforts or to further his own ends." Id. These are the so-called "Miller factors" from United States v. Miller, 688 F.2d 652, 657 (9th Cir. 1982).

The evidence in <u>Clark</u> failed both of the <u>Miller</u> factors. A private citizen unilaterally turned over incriminating photos to

police—photos he located with the intent to destroy them because of their embarrassing nature. <u>Clark</u>, 48 Wn. App. at 857. There was no evidence of express or tacit encouragement "to undertake action that the police themselves could not," and no indication police "might foresee [the private citizen] would undertake an illegal search." Id.

A year after <u>Clark</u>, this Court decided <u>Smith</u>. There, this Court rejected the notion that a police informant is necessarily a government agent. <u>Smith</u>, 110 Wn.2d at 670-71. Instead, the police must have "in some way 'instigated, encouraged, counseled, directed, or controlled' the conduct of the private person." <u>Id.</u> at 666 (quoting <u>State v. Wolken</u>, 103 Wn.2d 823, 830, 700 P.2d 319 (1985)). The court explained the rule of <u>Wolken</u> originated from <u>State v. Agee</u>, 15 Wn. App. 709, 714, 552 P.2d 1084 (1976), which recognized "mere knowledge by the government that a private citizen might conduct an illegal private search without the government taking any deterrent action [is] insufficient to turn the private search into a governmental one."

In Smith, the detective actually discouraged the informant's proposed search, telling him he could not go onto the property without a legitimate reason and that he should not trespass. 110 Wn.2d at 666. Concluding there was insufficient evidence of agency, the Smith court emphasized the "true basis" for the rule of Wolken and Agee is "the State must not have 'a private party do for it that which it is forbidden to do itself."4 Smith, 110 Wn.2d at 671 (quoting Agee, 15 Wn. App. at 714). Quite the opposite, the record in Smith "reflect[ed] a conscientious effort by the detective to gather information of illegal activities while abiding by the legal restraints placed upon law enforcement officers which protect the privacy of citizens." Id. at 670.

The <u>Smith</u> court did not expressly apply the <u>Miller</u> factors. However, the court favorably quoted a Fifth Circuit decision that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In full, the <u>Agee</u> court stated: "At the least there must be some showing of preknowledge and acquiescence from which a reasonable inference can be drawn that the state has encouraged or cooperated in having a private party do for it that which it is forbidden to do itself." 15 Wn. App. at 714.

all but stated the Miller factors: "The decision here, then, finally revolves around the factual situation with regard to [1] government participation and government knowledge that an illegal search was being conducted and [2] that the government would be the beneficiary of such misconduct." Smith, 110 Wn.2d at 671 (quoting United States v. Mekjian, 505 F.2d 1320, 1328 (5th Cir. 1975)). Notably, the Mekjian court recognized, "If government officials were aware, or should have been aware that [the private citizen] was removing and copying records for their use, they will not be permitted to stand by or blink their eyes and accept the benefit of her activities." 505 F.2d at 1328.

Division One applied the two Miller factors again in Swenson. The Swenson court held: "If the court answers both queries in the affirmative, then the private citizen was acting as a government agent when he or she conducted the search." 104 Wn. App. at 754.

The record in <u>Swenson</u> satisfied the second part of the <u>Miller</u> test but failed the first. <u>Id.</u> Following his son's murder,

Allan Loucks began independently investigating the case, including turning over Swenson's phone records to the police. Id. at 747-49. Although he had a personal interest in identifying his son's killer, Loucks obtained Swenson's phone records to assist the police investigation, "clearly satisf[ying] the second part of the so-called Miller test." Id. at 754.

But Swenson failed to demonstrate the police knew of and acquiesced to Loucks obtaining Swenson's phone records. <u>Id.</u> at 754-55. Although one could conclude the police encouraged Loucks to help them with their investigation, in general, they never indicated to Loucks they wanted Swenson's phone records, in particular. <u>Id.</u> at 755. Put simply, the police never articulated for Loucks any specific type of information they were seeking. <u>Id.</u> Thus, <u>Swenson</u> was not a case where the police used a private citizen to obtain evidence they could not. <u>Id.</u> at 755-56.

Thereafter, this Court cited <u>Swenson</u> and applied the <u>Miller</u> factors in concluding a city ordinance requiring rental unit inspection certificates did not transform landlords into state

agents. <u>City of Pasco v. Shaw</u>, 161 Wn.2d 450, 460, 166 P.3d 1157 (2007). The ordinance failed the second <u>Miller</u> factor, because landlords "first and foremost further their *own* ends" by conducting the contemplated inspections. <u>Id.</u> at 461 (alteration in original).

The record in Bass's case establishes both parts of the Miller test. First, Detective Bowhay "knew of and acquiesced in" Wagner's seizure of Bass's DNA. After Detective Bowhay failed to collect cast-off DNA, Wagner told him she could get Bass's DNA, "And I just said, what do you need? I mean, do you need a water bottle. I'll get a water bottle." RP 61; see also RP 17 (Bowhay testified Wagner asked, "you want to get his DNA, don't you?"). Detective Bowhay responded, "well, that would be great or, you know, super or, you know, something along those lines." RP 61. Detective Bowhay testified he told Wagner he "[c]ouldn't tell her what to do or not to do," but also did not dissuade her in any way. RP 18. Thus, Wagner knew Detective

Bowhay wanted Bass's DNA and Detective Bowhay knew Wagner was going to collect it for him. RP 17-18, 92.

Second, Wagner collected Bass's DNA solely to assist law enforcement in the Stavik investigation, rather than some alternative personal reason. Wagner explained she gave Bass's delivery route to Detective Bowhay "after I asked if it was that case and who it was. I felt a basic moral obligation to help." RP 47. The trial court believed this "moral obligation" indicated Wagner did not intend solely to help law enforcement. RP 158; CP 113. But the moral obligation Wagner felt was clearly to help police catch Stavik's killer. Wagner agreed the "only reason" she collected Bass's DNA was to turn it over to police. RP 56. Wagner explained, "I mean, I just -- by this time I felt like if Tim was involved it needed to be found out." RP 56.

Law enforcement wanted Bass's DNA but could not get it through lawful means. Pretrial Ex. 8; RP 9. Detective Bowhay found a way with Wagner's cooperation. He instigated Wagner's collection of Bass's DNA, through their frequent communication,

Wagner's knowledge that Bowhay wanted Bass's DNA, and Bowhay's ready acceptance of Wagner's offer. Wagner acted solely for the purpose of helping law enforcement investigate the Stavik case. The court of appeals clearly held in <a href="Swenson">Swenson</a> that, where the answer to both of the <a href="Miller">Miller</a> factors is "yes," the private citizen is acting as a state agent. 104 Wn. App. at 754. Wagner therefore acted as a government agent when she collected Bass's cup and soda can from their workplace garbage and turned them over to Detective Bowhay.

But the court of appeals did not apply its own rule from <a href="Swenson">Swenson</a>, refusing to examine the two <a href="Miller">Miller</a> factors. Dispensing quickly with the first factor, the court ruled "an agency relationship requires more than mere knowledge or acquiescence in a private citizen's actions." Opinion, 12. The court reasoned there must be more—the government must "in some way prompt[] or motivate[] the actions of the would-be government agent." Opinion, 13. The court believed "there is no evidence of police instigation, encouragement, or control over Wagner's

activities." Opinion, 13. The court then did not even reach the second factor, concluding it was irrelevant "even if she acted with the sole intent to help law enforcement." Opinion, 15 n.4.

Thus, one published Division One decision requires application of the Miller factors (Swenson) while another published Division One decision does not (Bass). The Bass court essentially held the "direct, instigate, encourage" test is a different, higher standard than the Miller factors. Division One has created a conflict in its own precedent. Bass pointed this out in his motion for reconsideration, urging the court of appeals to apply the mandate from Swenson, or at least articulate its reasons for departing from Swenson. Mot. for Reconsideration, 1-3.

Contrary to the court of appeals' conclusion, the case law discussed above does not establish the two tests are at odds with one another. RAP 13.4(b)(1). The <u>Clark</u> court recognized instigation or encouragement can occur "directly... or indirectly," "expressly or tacitly." 48 Wn. App. at 856, 857. The <u>Agee</u> court likewise suggested police encouragement and

cooperation can be reasonably inferred from "preknowledge and acquiescence." 15 Wn. App. at 714. What <u>Smith</u> teaches us is the real question is whether law enforcement used a private citizen to carry out a search the police themselves could not. The <u>Miller</u> factors provide a straightforward, easily applied test for making this determination. <u>See Dunaway v. New York</u>, 442 U.S. 200, 213-14, 99 S. Ct. 2248, 60 L. Ed. 2d 824 (1979) ("A single, familiar standard is essential to guide police officers . . .").

This Court's review is therefore necessary to resolve the conflict in published Division One decisions. RAP 13.4(b)(2). To the extent the Miller factors are inconsistent with the "direct, instigate, encourage" test, then this Court's guidance is needed. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). As the court of appeals' decision in Bass demonstrates, an amorphous "direct, instigate, encourage" test is basically standardless, the terms lacking any definition, allowing for arbitrary decision making. The potential for confusion and disparate results abounds. The facts of Bass's case provide an opportunity to clarify what type of contacts between police and a

private citizen amount to instigation and encouragement to undertake an illegal search.

1b. This Court's review is necessary to determine whether individuals retain a privacy interest in their DNA when it is not voluntarily discarded in a public place.

Even if Wagner was not acting as a state agent, the warrantless testing of Bass's DNA nevertheless invaded his private affairs under article I, section 7. Bass never voluntarily exposed his DNA in a public place, but discarded it in his workplace garbage, where he retained his privacy interest in it. And, to the extent Washington case law holds there is no privacy interest in one's DNA under such circumstances, it is incorrect and harmful and should be overruled.

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