FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/11/2021 4:12 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100171-1 (Court of Appeals No. 80156-2-I)

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

TIMOTHY FORREST BASS, Appellant.

ANSWER/CONTINGENT CROSS PETITION FOR REVIEW

ERIC J. RICHEY,
Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney
By HILARY THOMAS
Appellate Deputy Prosecutor
Attorney for Respondent
WSBA #22007/ADMIN #91075
Whatcom County Prosecutor's Office
311 Grand Avenue, Second Floor
Bellingham, WA 98225
(360) 778-5710

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

which increase punishment and punish an act which wasn't punishable when it was committed. *Powell*, 117 Wn.2d at 184; *see also, State v. Edwards*, 104 Wn.2d 63, 71, 701 P.2d 508 (1985) (emphasis added) ("Finding a violation [of ex post facto prohibition] turns upon whether *the law* changes legal consequences of acts completed before its effective date.")

Ex post facto asks whether the law itself impermissibly increases punishment, not whether the erroneous use of amended statutory language in an information or in instructions violates ex post facto. The Court of Appeals correctly determined ex post facto was not implicated here because the legislative amendment applied only prospectively.

4. The erroneous use of the word "or" instead of "and" did not violate due process because Bass had notice the State had to prove the murder occurred during the res gestae of the crime.

The Court of Appeals concluded that instead of an ex post facto issue, the erroneous use of the 1990 statutory language, which amended the felony murder statute from "in

the course of and in furtherance of' to "in the course of or in furtherance of," violated due process. Should this Court accept review of Bass's claim the Court of Appeals erred in finding the use of the word "or" instead of "and" to be harmless error, the State asks this Court to accept review of the Court's conclusion that due process was violated by the erroneous instruction. The change of the statutory language from "in the course of and in furtherance of" to "in the course of or in furtherance of" did not substantively change what the State had to prove. Under either version of the statute, the State had to prove that the homicide occurred within the res gestae of the felony. However, should this Court disagree, the Court of Appeals applied the correct constitutional harmless error test, and therefore reversal is not warranted.

a. The use of the language "in the course of or in furtherance of" instead of "and in furtherance of" did not violate due process because the proof required was essentially the same under both phrases.

The Court of Appeals determined that the amendment to first degree felony murder in 1990 altered the elements of first degree felony murder because of the change from "and" to "or." In doing so, it rejected the State's argument that both before and after the 1990 amendment the State was only required to prove that the murder was committed within the res gestae of the felony.

Relying upon a footnote in its opinion in *State v. Leech*, 54 Wn. App. 597, 775 P.2d 463 (1989), the Court of Appeals held the use of the term "and" created two separate elements, "in the course of," i.e., during the felony, and "in furtherance of," i.e., within the res gestae of the crime. Opinion at 26-27. In doing so, it noted that while the Supreme Court opinion in *State v. Leech*, 114 Wn.2d 700, 790 P.2d 160 (1990) overruled its conclusion that the arson had not occurred "in furtherance of" the arson, the court had not specifically overruled its conclusion that the phrase "in the course of" meant "during." Opinion at 27. It concluded that the 1990 amendment had altered the

elements of the offense, and therefore Bass's due process rights had been violated. Opinion at 27-28.

The State submits the Court of Appeals erred in finding that the phrase "in the course of and in furtherance of" had a substantively different meaning than the phrase "in the course of or in furtherance of" phrase. Both before and after the amendment to the statute, the State was required to prove the murder occurred within the res gestae of the alleged felony. In 1989, the law provided that a homicide was "deemed committed during the perpetration of a felony, for the purpose of felony murder, if the homicide [was] within the "res gestae" of the felony, i.e., if there was a close proximity in terms of time and distance between the felony and the homicide." State v. Leech, 114 Wn.2d 700, 706, 790 P.2d 160 (1990), abrogated on other grounds by In re Pers. Restraint of Andress, 147 Wn.2d 602, 56 P.3d 981 (2002). This "res gestae" standard is the same proof standard that is applied under the amended

statutory language. *See*, *State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 608–10, 940 P.2d 546 (1997).

To establish that a killing occurred in the course of, in furtherance of, or in immediate flight from a felony, there must be an "intimate connection" between the killing and the felony. The killing must be part of the "res gestae" of the felony, that is, in "close proximity in terms of time and distance."

Brown, 132 Wn.2d at 607–08 (footnotes omitted); see also, State v. Bottrell, 103 Wn. App. 706, 720, 14 P.3d 164 (2000), rev. den., 143 Wn.2d 1020 (2001) (homicide occurs within perpetration of the felony if there's close proximity in time and distance between the felony and the murder and there's no break in the chain of events). Contrary to the Court of Appeals' opinion, the Leech Supreme Court opinion was not addressing just the phrase "in furtherance of" when it stated that in order to prove felony murder, the State must prove that the murder occurred within the res gestae of the felony. It did not specifically distinguish between the "in the course of" and "in the furtherance of" when it stated the general proposition:

A homicide is deemed committed during the perpetration of a felony, for the purpose of felony murder, if the homicide is within the "res gestae" of the felony, i.e., if there was a close proximity in terms of time and distance between the felony and the homicide.

Leech, 114 Wn.2d at 706. In fact, its rejection of the defendant's argument, that the act of arson was complete once the fire was set such that the death that occurred afterwards did not occur within the res gestae of that felony, implies the Court of Appeals holding here, that the State bore the burden of proving the murder occurred in the course of, i.e., during, commission of the felony as well as in furtherance of the felony, is wrong. In rejecting the defendant's argument, the Supreme Court in Leech relied on a New York case which treated the phrase "in the course of and in furtherance of" as one elemental phrase:

We reject defendant's contention that the felony murder statute, insofar as it applies to the crime of arson, is unconstitutionally vague because it does not define what is meant by "in the course of and in furtherance of such crime". The statute is sufficiently definite. It is illogical to interpret the statute, as defendant contends, as meaning that the death must occur at the time of the commission

of the crime; it need only be caused by the commission of the crime.

Leech, 114 Wn.2d at 708 (quoting People v. Zane, 543

N.Y.S.2d 777, 778 (1989)); see also, State v. Gilmer, 96 Wn.

App. 875, 981 P.2d 902 (1999), rev. den., 139 Wn.2d 1023

(2000), overruled in part on other grounds by State v. Salavea,

151 Wn.2d 133, 86 P.3d 125 (2004) (for purposes of second degree felony murder element that the death was caused "in the course of and in furtherance of such crime or in immediate flight therefrom, the "homicide is deemed committed during the perpetration of the felony if there is a close proximity in terms of time and distance") (emphasis added).

In fact, in the context of the RCW 10.95.010(9) aggravating circumstance that the premeditated murder occurred in the course of a felony, the Supreme Court held in *State v. Hacheney*, 160 Wn.2d 503, 158 P.3d 1152 (2007), that in order to prove this aggravator, "there must be a causal connection such that the death was a probable consequence of

that felony." *Hacheney*, 160 Wn.2d at 505. In doing so, the court quoted the 1978 felony murder case of *State v. Golladay*, 78 Wn.2d121, 470 P.2d 191 (1970), *overruled on other grounds* by *State v. Arndt*, 87 Wn.2d 374, 553 P.2d 1328 (1976):

"As to when a homicide may be said to have been committed *in the course of the* perpetration of another crime, the rule is ...:

'It may be stated generally that a homicide is committed in the perpetration of another crime, when the accused, intending to commit some crime other than the homicide, is engaged in the performance of any one of the acts which such intent requires for its full execution, and, while so engaged, and within the *res gestae* of the intended crime, *and in consequence thereof, the killing results*. It must appear that there was such actual legal relation between the killing and the crime committed or attempted, that the killing can be said to have occurred as a part of the perpetration of the crime, or in furtherance of an attempt or purpose to commit it. In the usual terse legal phraseology, *death must have been the probable consequence of the unlawful act*.'"

Id. at 514 (quoting *Golladay*, 78 Wn.2d at 131) (underline emphasis added). Confronting the issue of whether to continue to apply the *Golladay* rule, or to adopt a broader rule regarding the phase "in the course of," the *Hacheney* court chose to adhere to the *Golladay* rule, and defined "course" for purposes

of establishing a murder occurred "in the course of a felony," as something that is "ordered continuing process, succession, sequence or series." *Hacheney*, 160 Wn.2d at 518. While the court ultimately found that the murder had not occurred during the course of the arson because the murder occurred before the arson, the court adhered to the *Golladay* definition of "in the course of." Id. at 518.

The *Hacheney* court acknowledged that in some felony murder cases it is difficult to pinpoint when exactly the death occurred in relation to commission of the felony. Id. at 515-16. The court cited to the case of *State v. Whitfield*, 129 Wash. 134, 224 P. 559 (1924), as one of those cases. In *Whitfield*, the defendant was charged with first degree murder by killing someone and having done so "in the commission of, or in an attempt to commit, or in withdrawing from the scene" of a rape. *Whitfield*, 129 Wash. at 138. The defendant claimed that the information was deficient, and failed to apprise him of whether the killing occurred in the commission of the attempt to rape,

the rape or in withdrawing from the scene of the rape. Id. The court held:

The proof of the killing, together with the fact that it was committed in connection with a rape, is sufficient to constitute murder in the first degree. From the very nature of things—and the evidence in this case illustrates the situation as well as any case could—it is often impossible for the state to know at just what instant a killing was committed, whether it was done in the commission of a felony, or in attempting to commit a felony, or while withdrawing from the scene of a felony. The facts here show that there were blows on the head of the child which may have been inflicted before the rape took place or after the rape had been committed, or may have been inflicted while the accused was withdrawing from the scene. The child's throat was also cut, and the same uncertainty exists as to when that mortal wound was inflicted. It is impossible to tell whether the wounds to the head or throat occasioned the death. Under such circumstances, to compel the state to make a choice as to the exact instant that an unwitnessed killing took place is but a technicality to embarrass justice. The real charge against the appellant was the killing; the rape was an incident qualifying the homicide as murder in the first degree. State v. Fillpot, 51 Wash. 223, 98 Pac. 659. He was charged with one crime and only one, and if the killing took place while the appellant was concerned in a rape it is immaterial if it was during the attempt, consummation, or flight.

Id. at 138-39.

Bass had notice of the requirement that the State had to prove his killing of Mandy occurred within the res gestae of the rape or kidnapping, as a probable consequence of the rape or kidnapping. The State was not required to prove two distinct elements of "in the course of" and "in furtherance of." It was required to prove the one element that the killing occurred "in the course of and in furtherance of, or in immediate flight" from the rape or kidnapping. The Court of Appeals erred in finding the State had to prove two distinct elements and that the jury instructions violated due process because they did not make this apparent.

b. If the Court of Appeals was correct that there was a due process violation, the Court applied the correct harmless error test.

Bass asserts that the Court of Appeals erred in finding that the due process violation was harmless under a constitutional harmless error analysis. He asserts that, under *Aho*, the Court should have asked whether it is *possible* that the jury convicted based on the standard of "in the course of *or* in

the furtherance of" instead of "in the course of and in furtherance of." He suggests this Court should apply the harmless error standard that was applied in two alternative means cases. The Court of Appeals applied the correct constitutional harmless error standard here, the standard that applies to flawed instructions regarding elements of a crime.

The State would first note that if Bass had asserted a due process notice violation regarding the language of the *information*, the analysis of the information would fall under the liberal, post-conviction *Kjorsvik*² standard. The constitutional harmless error analysis the Court of Appeals applied with respect to the *instructions* was the appropriate analysis because it is the one most analogous to the situation at issue here. "An instruction that omits an element of the offense ... does not *necessarily* render a criminal trial fundamentally unfair or unreliable for determining guilt or innocence." *Neder*

² State v. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d 93, 812 P.2d 86 (1991).

v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 2, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999). Where instructions are flawed regarding the elements of the offense, a constitutional harmless error analysis is applied. State v. Brown, 147 Wn.2d 330, 339-40, 58 P.3d 889 (2002); see also, State v. Carter, 154 Wn.2d 71, 109 P.3d 823 (2005) (constitutional harmless error test applied to faulty accomplice liability instruction in felony murder case).

Bass cites to the alternative means cases of *In re Brockie*, 178 Wn.2d 532, 309 P.3d 498 (2013), and *State v. Brewcynski*, 173 Wn. App. 541, 294 P.3d 825 (2013), in support of his argument the harmless error test here should be whether it was possible that the jury convicted him under the 1990 "lower" standard. *In re Brockie* actually held that the harmless error test regarding an uncharged alternative means case on direct appeal presumes prejudice unless the State can show the error was harmless. *In re Brockie*, 178 Wn.2d at 538-39. The Court of Appeals likewise presumed prejudice, but concluded the State had proven the error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

While the court in *Brewcynski* did hold that including an uncharged alternative means in the jury instructions in that case was not harmless because it was possible the jury convicted the defendant on that uncharged means, uncharged alternative means jury instructions cases are not as analogous to the alleged error in this case, which alleges an error regarding the essential element language, not an uncharged alternative means.

The Court of Appeals did not err in applying the constitutional harmless error standard to the due process violation it found here. The Court found the error not harmless as to the rape because the State had not proved the death occurred during the rape, but found it harmless as to the kidnapping because kidnapping is a continuing course of conduct offense that continues until the person reaches safety. Opinion at 28-29. It concluded there was no other reasonable interpretation of the evidence other than that Mandy had died while fleeing her captor, and the evidence clearly showed that the death occurred within close proximity and time to the

kidnapping. Opinion at 29. Therefore, the error regarding the use of the word "or" instead "and" in the instructions was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

5. The Court of Appeals did not err in finding no constitutional violation of Bass's right to present a defense because the defense was speculative and the evidence didn't support such a defense.

Bass next asserts this Court should accept review in order to address the trial court's exclusion of evidence he alleged showed that Mandy might have committed suicide instead of having been murdered. He acknowledges that the Court of Appeals referenced the correct standard, set forth in *Arndt*, but misapplied it. The Court of Appeals did not misapply the *Arndt* standard, but correctly found the evidence Bass sought to admit to show Mandy's state of mind when she died was too speculative. Therefore, the denial of Bass's motion to admit entries from Mandy's diary did not violate his constitutional right to present a defense.

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